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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

MARTHA-LUCIA SIERRA,
Plaintiff, : Civil Action No.: 16-1804RC)
V. : Re Document No.: 24

CARLA HAYDEN, ! in her official capacity as
Librarian of Congress :

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

GRANTING DEFENDANT’SMOTION TO DISMISS; GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART
DEFENDANT’'SMOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

[. INTRODUCTION

On September 9, 2016, Library of CongresJ@) employee Marthd.ucia Sierra
broughtthis employment discrimination action against Carla Hayden in her official cyyzecit
Librarian of Congress. Ms. Sierra alleged discriminatory non-promotionsrivegiin 2008,
Compl. 111 37-41, ECF No. 1, and from 2014 to 2¢d.4]Y 42-45. She additionally contended
thather supervisor’s “unwelcome harassment . . . because of her race (Hispdioicy| waigin
(Colombian), and/or sex (female)” created a hostile work environnheénf. 33. Defendant
moved to dismiss both Plaintiff’'s 2008 to 2012 and 2014 to 2016 rmnehion claims.See
generallyDef.’s Partial Mot. Dismiss, ECF No. ©nJune 1, 2017, this Court granted
Defendant’s motion, finding that Ms. Sierra had failed to timely administratesdigust both

her 2008 to 2012 complaints and her failtorgsgromote claims from 2014 to 20%6th the LOC

! Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 25(d), the Court substitutasHagden
for David Maoas Defendant.
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See Sierra v. Hayder254 F. Supp. 3d 230, 233 (D.D.C. 201BecauseéDefendant had not
moved to dismiss the 2013 non-promotion, this Court declined to su@vspontéo dismiss
that claim Id. at 243. The Court noted, howevéhnatMs. Sierra’s 2013 nopromotion claim
was “likely dismissible because she did not seek out a promotion” in thatlglear.

After completing discovenbefendanbroughta Rule 12b)(6) motionto dismissMs.
Sierra’sremaining2013 non-promotion claim and a motion for summary judgment ohdstite
work environment claim. Def.’s Mot. Dismiss and Mot. Summary J. (“Def.’s Mot.”}; E@.
24. Because this Court finds tHiaintiff hasnotestablished a plausibB913 non-promotion
claim, that claim is dismissedn addition, the Counvill grant in part and deny in part
Defendant’s motion for summary judgment.

. REGULATORY AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 protects employees of the Library of Cesg)
providing that “[a]ll personnel actions affectingQIC] employees or applicants for employment
... shall be made free from any discrimination based on race, color, religion, satiooal
origin.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-18). A partymust fulfill severaladministrative prerequisites
before she maijle a Title VII lawsuit in a federal district courGee Brown v. GSA25 U.S.
820, 832 (1976). As detailed in this Court’s June 1, 2017 Memorandum Opheapécific
regulations that apply tine LOCdiffer from many other federal agencieSee29 C.F.R. §
1614.103(d)(3). Under Title VII, the Librarian of Congress is to exercise Equal Opiprt
Employment Commission authority over the L&€e42 U.S.C. § 2000e-16(b), which the
Librarian has done via LOC regulatioseel CR 2010-3.1 8§ 1, ECF No. 4-3. The LOC
regulations require a staff member “who believes that [Jshe has been, or isisemyginated

against” to “notify and consult with a Counselor not later than 20 workdays after ¢hef dia¢



alleged discriminatory matter.ld. at §6(B). Subject to a limited number of exceptions, this
requirement must be satisfibdforea plaintiff may file a lawsuit in federal district coutt. at
§ 4(B); see also Nichols v. Billingtod02 F. Supp. 2d 48, 69 (D.D.C. 200&),d, No. 05-5326,
2006 WL 2018044 (D.C. Cir. Mar. 7, 2006).

Here, Plaintiff filed several administrative complairgkated to henon-promotion
claims The Court has already determined thaaiRtiff's employment discrimination complaints
for non-promotions before 2012 “did not adhere to the black letter of the library regulations.”
Sierra 254 F. Supp. 3d at 23Because she did not timely file within the LOC regulations’
twenty workday reguementandbecauselgalsodid not make a request for an extension of the
deadline upon prior requesgeLCR 2000-3.1 § 4(B), Ms. Sierra missed the regulatory
deadline.See id.The Court thus concluded that Ms. Sierra did not timely exhaugré€012
administrative claimsthat the LOC did not waive its non-exhaustion defense, and that Ms.
Sierra failed to demonstrate that she was entitled to equitable tolling on her claihesyears
2008 through 2012Seeid. at 239—-43. The Court also considered Plaintiff's faiborpromote
claims that occurred from 2014 to 201%ee idat 243—-44. Finding that Ms. Sierra did not
timely exhaust her 2014, 2015, and 2016 administrative claims of alleged non-promotion,
grantedDefendant’s partial motion to dismitese claimsld. at244. Finally, the Court
considered Ms. Sierradaim for discriminatory nospromotion in 2013.ld. at 244-45.
Because Defendant did not move to dismiss Plaintiff’'s 2013pnametion claim or brief the
issue, the Court declined to dismiss the claira sponteinder Rule 12(b)(6)Id. at 245. The
Court noted, however, that the claim was likeilgmissiblebecause Plaintiff did not seek out a

promotion in 2013.1d.



OnDecember 10, 2018, Defendant filed a second motion to dismiss addressing the 2013
non-promotion claimSee generallpef.’s Mot. In this same filing, Defendants movied
summary judgment on Plaintiff's hostile work environment claee d. These motions are
now ripe for the Court’s consideration.

lll. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 2

Because this Court has already dismissedfdfaintiff's claims other thaiMs. Sierra’s
2013discriminatorynon-promotion claim and hostile work environment claegSierra, 254
F. Qupp. 3d at 23%discussing discriminatory and retaliatory refusal to promote as well ag “othe
discriminatory actions”)theinstantdescription of the facts will focus on, first, the employee-
supervisor relationship in the year 2013, and second, detaitstiie record that are relevant for
Plaintiff's discriminatory hostile work environment claim.

Ms. Sierraworked as a contractor BOC from 1993 to 1996, P& Opp’n Def.’s Mot.
(“PI's Opp’n”) 2—-3, ECF No. 27, angas then hired as a Paper ConservimotheLOC'’s
Conservation Office in April 199@®ef.’s Mot. 2; Pl.’s Opp’n 32 In 2007,Plaintiff applied fora

careefladderGS-13/14 management analyst position in tli@Q’s Strategic Planning Office

2 In general, a court will not accept facts from a defendant’s filings in a motidismiss
at the pleading stage&ee Angelex Ltd. v. United Stat#83 F. Supp. 3d 66, 88 n.11 (D.D.C.
2015). At the motion for summary judgment stage, however, a court may look beyond the
complaint.SeeAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S. 242, 247 (1986) (quoting Fed. R. Civ.
P. 56(c)). Because the pending motion includes both a motion to dismiss and a motion for
summary julgment, the Court’s reporting of facts incorpordéessfrom beyond thdour
corners of the complaint. However, in deciding Defendant’s motion to dismiss, dexnsnly
facts from Plaintiff's complaint or “documents upon which the plaintiff's clampnecessarily
relies.” Angelex Ltd.123 F. Supp. 3d at 88 n.11.

3 The Court cites toriginal pagination when it is available. For documents that were not
originally paginatedthe Court cites tthe ECF page number8ecausedhe parties did not
consistently label their exhibits, the Court refers to them using the ECF raimber



(“SPQO”). Compl. § 11.She was selected for the management analyst position after an interview
by Karen Lloyd, who became Ms. Sierra’s immediate supervisor from May 8Quiyt2015.
SeePl’s Opp’n 3; Def.’s Statement Material Fa¢tBef.’'s SMF”), ECF No. 24-1 1 4, 6Vs.
Sierrawas hired into this positioat the GS13 level. Def.’'s SMF { 4.As a “career ladder
position” employee, Ms. Siermaaseligible for noncompetitive promotion to the GS-14 if she
demonstrate an ability toperform at that levelld. § 12;see alsd”l.’s Opp’n 4-5 (“[lJnorder to
move up in a career ladder position, ‘an individual must demonstrate that they arsimeyf
satisfactorily at the next higher grade level for a period of three (3) méifthsting Def.’s
Resps. Pl.’s Interrogs. 5, ECF No. 27-7Ms. Sierra has not been promoted to the GS-14 level
since she was hired intoglmanagement analysosition in 2007. Pl.’s Opp’n 3 (citing Compl.
111).

Ms. Sierrés complaint alleges discriminatidrased omace(Hispanic) sex(female) and
nationd origin (Colombian). Compl. { 1BecausedPlaintiff allegesdiscriminatory conduct over
a period of time, as opposed to making a claim derived from one or more discreteeaCtsurt
will summarizeseveral categories issueghat Ms. Sierra describeshifting work performance
standardspresentations and meetingseractions within the office and at external eveatsj
one-on-one conversations with Ms. Lloyd.

A. Shifting Work Performance Standards

According to Ms. Sierra, her performance was caily found inadequate, even when
she “rose to the challenge[s]” that Ms. Lloyd laid out for her. Pl.’s Opp’Rist, in Plaintiff's
2008-2009 performance evaluation, Ms. Sierra was told that she needed to “take the Internal
Control Program (“ICP”) out of the Library” to be ready for her GS-14 promofidrat 4

(citing Sierra Aff. 4 ECF No. 27-8 But even when Ms. Sierra performed this task and was



invited to participate at the 2016 Association of Government Acaotn{’AGA”) Fraud and
Internal Controls National Meeting, Plaintiff asserts that Ms. Lloyd didewuignize her
accomplishmentld. at 5-6. Instead, according to Plaintiff, Ms. Lloyd “took the project
leadership role away” and told Ms. Sierra not to contact the AldAat 6(citing Sierra Aff. 4).
Ms. Lloyd contests this allegation, averring that she did not strip Ms. Sfearg deadeship
role. Id. at 6(citing Lloyd Dep. 125:22-126:9, ECF No. 2y-4

In 2010, when Plaintiff again asked about a possible promotion based on her work with
the ICP, Ms. Lloyd allegedly characterized Ms. Sierra’s work as™bnéetold her that she was
not ready for a promotion because she lacked supervisory sHillst 11 (citing Sierra Dep. 89
ECF No. 27-3). Again, Ms. Lloyd disputes this account and states that she “could not have said
this because” of her knowledge that the position is non-supervisory. Lloyd Aff. 7, ECF No. 27-
6. Ms. Sierra offers that she worked to redress this issue in two ways. Fiestyslhed in
“Management Concepts,” a professional training resourciaéolCP, to gain supervisory
training. Pl.’s Opp’n 12. Seconshebegan managinglaOC internand met weekly with Ms.
Lloyd “to discuss her task as a supervisdd’ (citing Sierra Aff. 6). According to Ms. Sierra,
Ms. Lloyd abruptly fired the intern before the end of the intems&gnment term and told
Plaintiff that she lacked supervisory skillkl. (citing Sierra Dep. 92; Sierra Aff. 7). According
to Ms. Lloyd, it was Ms. Sierra who suggested that she fire the intern. Lliby8. AThere is no
evidence of further discussion of supervisory skills development or of the importamwd of s
skills for promotion.

The next yeaf2011), at her annual performance evaluation, Ms. Sierra states that she
was informed for the first time that her writing skills were deficient. Pl.’s @pp(citing

Sierra Dep. 100; Lloyd Dep. 1196)-see alsdef.’'s SMF 17 (citing Compl. 11 16, 25(b)).



According to Ms. Sierrayis. Lloyd’s critique of her writing “perplexed” her because coworkers
generally complimented her work. Pl.’s Opp’n 12—-14 (citing Morse Dep. 57:3-9, 57:10-15,
ECF No. 9. Ms. Walfall, a coworkeraffirms that Ms. Sierra’s work was “usually waltitten”
and did not require any more editing than that of her coworkers. Walfall Aff. BNeC27-14.
Ms. Morse, acoworkerwho reviewed Plaintiff's work under the office’s peer review system,
found Ms. Sierra’s writing to be grammatically sound and “fine, though perhaps aduseé
Pl.’s Opp’n 13 n.12see alsdVorse Dep. 55:19-57:9. Mr. Lambert, a third coworkeiggests
that there were more issues with Ms. Sierra’s writing, stating thateshséime messaging
challenges with what message is being communicated to who[m].” Lambert Dep. 22:15-17,
ECF 3144

Ms. Sierra ultimately enrolled in writing courses after Ms. Lloyd requebi@ she “take
‘writing courses’ or ‘English courses™ throbhghe LOC online training portal, Def.’s Mot. 13
(quoting Compl. 1 16, 25(b); Sierra Dep. 105:20-10&83ause her writing was “not clear and
concise” and required multiple rounds of edits(quoting Lloyd Dep. 61:8-10, 80:7-10yls.
Sierra characterizes many of these edits as “stylistic,” citing examples sqheasng the
phrase “Good day” with “Dear Internal Control Program Accountable OSitidl.’s Opp’n 13
& n.11. Nonetheless, Ms. Sierra completed five or six online classes concerniisfp Enghe
sense of effective writing skills and not in the sense of learning to speak thegan@iarra

Dep.107:7-25, 10914-17, ECF No. 24-3. She completed these courses in addition to her

4 The full Lambert Deposition was inadvertently not attached to the motion for symmar
judgment that Defendant uploaded to the Court’s Electronic Filing Systereadndtwas
subsequently attached to Defendant’s ReflgeDef.’'s Reply 1 n.2, ECF No. 31. Although the
Court will not consider arguments or claims raised for the first time in a sg@in re Asemani,
455 F.3d 296, 300 (D.C. Ciz006, because the Lambert Deposition’s missing pages include no
new arguments or claims, it wdbnsidemMr. Lambert’s full testimony.



regular workloadalthough Ms. Sierra was permitted &ké these courses at her desk during
work hours and does not appear to have been expected to complete them on her oB®eetime.
id. at109-11.
B. Presentationsand Meetings

Several incidents occurred at LOC presentations and meefihgsearliesteported
incident occurred on September 15, 2009, when Plaintiff was practicing for a presethiati
next day at the Association of Government Accousstdnternal Control Progim/Fraud
Conference. Def.’s Mot. 10 (citing Sierra Dep. 38:4-44.7, ECF Nd.)2gee alsd’l.’'s Opp’'n
7. According to Plaintiff Ms. Sierrahad invitedseveralcolleagues to help her polish her
presentation. Pl.’s Opp’n 6—7 (citing Sierra Dep. 43-Si&rra Aff. 4-5). Plaintiffaversthat

Ms. Lloyd was late to the rehearsal, “which was ‘disruptive,” and then, uponrie ar
frequently interrupted Ms. Sierra’s presentation and critiqued it as “incohei2et.’s Mot. 10
(quoting Sierra Dep. 44:8-)&ee alsd’l.’s Opp’n 6-8.At this same rehearsal, Ms. Lloial
alleged to have mocked Ms. Sierra’s accent with the comment, “you're talkkengd wa wa’
Def.’s Mot. 10 (quoting Sierra Dep. 44:2%pe alsd’l.’s Opp’n 7. Plaintiff additionally poffers
that these comments were made “with disgust in her [Ms. Lloyd’s]'faék's Opp’n 7(citing
Sierra Dep44). An employee at the LOC Office of Opportunity, Inclusiveness, and
Compliance, Id&dernandezcorroborates Ms. Sierra’s account. Ms. HernamadiendedVs.
Sierra’s rehearsal &aintiff’'s personal invitation and states that Ms. Lloyd was “harshly
criticizing Plaintiff's presentation” and “aggressively harass[ing] BFaioy interrupting and
bombarding Plaintiff with criticism while she was practicindd’ at 8 (quoting Hernandez Aff.

3, ECF No. 27-12). In additioMs. Sierra averthat, during multiple other presentations and

meetings Ms. Lloyd asked others in the room if they understood what Plaintiff was saying.



Def.’s Mot. 11;PIl.’s Opp’n18. Ms. Sierraspecifically points to her October 2012 presentation
during aLOC class as a time when Msloyd frequently interrupted Ms. Sierra and questioned
whether the class understood her. Pl.’s Opp’n 17 (citing Lloyd Aff. 8), 38.

Two coworkes inthe LOC'’s Office of Strategidnitiatives (“OSI”) sustainMs. Sierra’s
account According to Carolyn Claypool&hois not supervised by Ms. Lloyd and whkerves
as aninternal control program coordinator fOiSI, Claypoole Aff. Addendum 4, ECRo. 27-
15, Ms. Lloyd “continually” interrupted Ms. Sierra at Internal Control Progi@@P”) meetings
in 2010 and 2012d. at 3 Ms. Claypoole labels Ms. Lloyd’s interruptions of Ms. Sierra’s
presentationas“blatantly racist” Pl.’s Opp’n 37 (quoting Claypoole Aff. 4Ms. Sierra also
specifically underscores December 2, 2010, March 7, 2012, June 6, 2012, and August 8, 2012, as
“a few dates where Ms. Lloyd interrupted Ms. Sierra in the ICP meetingsat 37 n.22.
Beyond these dates, the record does not indicate what proportion of the ni©Rthigetings
involved such interruptionsMs. Morseseparatelyconcurs with Plaintiff’'s account that, on
multiple occasions, Ms. Lloydsked Ms. Sierra to repeat herself during staff meetmgsys
that Ms. Morse did not find necessary. Morse Dep. 53:14-55:4. Furthermore, Ms. Claypoole
andPlaintiff eachcontend that Ms. Lloyd never similarly interrupted white, male employees
whom she supervisedseePl.’'s Opp’n 37;see alsad. at9 (citing Hernandez Aff. ;/Page Aff.
3, ECF 27-13).However,Tom Lambert,a third supervisee dfls. Lloyd, avers thats. Lloyd
critigued the presentations aff her staff. SeeLambert Aff., ECF No. 24-13 (“Karen Lloyd . . .
regularly attended presentations given by her staff members, includingakeates on those

presentations, and provided the presenters with critigueriticisms.”).



C. Interactions Within the Office and at External Events

Ms. Sierra also describes a number of more speuoticactions witivis. Lloyd that took
place bothin the office and at external eventShe contends that Ms. Lloyd tendedtdimes
“unnecessarily separdePlaintiff from some groups, and other times unnecessarily lumped her
in with other group$,Pl.’s Opp’n 15 €iting Sierra Dep. 117), and “took many actions to subtly
and overtly humiliate Ms. Sierraid. at43.

First, PlaintiffstateghatMs. Lloyd disfavored Ms. Sierra and did not appoint Ms. Sierra
to be her subordinate in changhen Ms. Lloyd was away from the office unl€daintiff “was
theonly one available.”ld. at 16 (citing LIloyd Dep84); see alsdValfall Aff. 5, ECF No. 27—

14 (stating thaMs. Walfall could not recall Ms. Sierra ever acting on Ms. Lloyd’s behalf and
noting that Ms. Walfall was only asked to act on Ms. Lloyd’s behalf “if thewohg conditions
were met: (1) [Ms. Sierra] was the only one in the office other than me [anid}yé2)the only
person in the office”).Ms. Lloyd contends, however, that she did not select Plaintiff to supervise
in her absence because Ms. Sierra’s position in the ICP tended to reca&veguestions than

other areas of the office, and so Ms. Sierra’s area of expertise was laasgdpef.’s Mot. 16—

17; see alsd_etter Re Decision of the Office of Opportunity, Inclusiges and Compliance-3,

ECF No. 24-10 (citing Ms. Lloyd’s explanation that she “put the individual in charge who has
the most experience with regard to the areas in which issues or questionseateceto come

up and will need to be resolved”).

SecondMs. SierraarguesthatMs. Lloydtreated her differently from other employees
because Ms. Lloydid not approve a detail opportunftyr Ms. Sierrato work atan office
outside of the LOC. During Ms. Lloydtenure adVs. Sierra’ssupervisoy other employees

whom Ms.Lloyd supervised went on detailSeeDef.’s SMF § 17 (citing Compl. § 25]a

10



According to Ms. Sierra, sHest requested a detalluring her 201®erformance revieypbut

Ms. Lloyd was unsupportivef her detail requesturing her remaining two years supervising
Ms. Sierra Def.’s Mot. 16. Athough Ms. Lloyd “never explicitly told Plaintiff [that] she
refused to allow [Ms. Sierra] to be detailed for an assignment, she continymushgd back’

the prospective datainder the guise of Plaintiff having ‘a lot of work.” Pl.’s Opp’n 20
(quoting Sierra Dep. 148). In additidvis. Sierra avers thadls. Lloyd actively provided detail
opportunities for a white, male coworker, Mr. Lambgttat 21 (citing Lambert Dep. 25:18—
26:1),whereas Ms. Lloyd advised Plaintiff that she needed to Ibeatewn“developmental
assignment id. at 20 (quoting Def.’s Resp. Pl.’s Interrogs. &lthough Ms. Lloyd disputethis
account and states that Mr. Lambeddted his own detaiteelloyd Dep. 88:7-90:8, Mr.
Lambert’s own testimony supports Ms. Sierra’s accaedl,.ambert Dep. 25:20-26:8, ECF No.
27-25 (stating that he never sought a detail opportunity and that Ms. Lloyd approaclambbhim
a “developmental” detail).

Plaintiff alsoproffersthat Ms. Lloyds communications and protocalgthin SPO
represent Defendanttifferential treatment of Ms. Sierra as comparelito Lloyd’s other
superviseesMs. SierranotesMs. Lloyd’sfailure to include her otwo SPOinternal emailsone
a notice that Ms. Lloyd was ill on November 25, 2013, thedtheran email regarding the
death of a coworké& mother on December 5, 201Bef.’s Mot. 18. Plaintiff avers that these
omissiongepresent an attempt to exclude Ms. Siéwen office communications. Pl.’s Opp’n
42-43. Defendanproffers a non-discriminatory explanation for both omissions. Ms. Lloyd
contends that she did not include Plaintiff on the November 25, 2013, email because it “had
nothing to do with the content of the internal control program that Sierra was respdmsibl

Def.’s Mot. 18 (citing Lloyd Dep. 86:15-17; Def.’s Suppl. Interrog Resp. 7-9-18, ECF 24-17),

11



and that her failure to include Ms. Sierra on the December 5, 2013, email was inadidertent,
(citing Def.’s Suppl. Interrog. Resp. 7-9-18).
Ms. Sierraadditionally suggests that Ms. Lloyd treated thiéfierently by restrictingher
communications with Chief Financial Officer Jeff Page. In approximaierch 2010, Ms.
Lloyd bean “prescreening” all communications between Ms. Sierra and Mr. Page's Diet.
12; see alsd”l.’s Opp’n 39. According to Plaintiff’'s deposition, this restriction didaftect
Ms. Sierra’s ability to complete her work dutie€SeeDef.’s Mot. 12 (citing Sierra Dep. 76:8)
However, it did noapply toany ofMs. Lloyd’s other superviseesiale or female Pl.’'s Opp’n
39; see alsdef.’'s Mot. 12 (citing Sierra Dep. 75:21-23Ms. Lloyd states that she expects all
her supervisees to brief her or her representative before going to the CH@tasite expects all
staff to inform her should the CFO contact them directly. Lloyd Aff. 14. Nothing iretteerd
specifically explans why Ms. Lloyd restricted Ms. Sierra’s communications in this manner.
Finally, Ms. Sierra points to Ms. Lloyd’s comments and conduct towards her in group
settings. Plaintiff highlights twmcidents First, at an unidentified time, Plaintiff allegbsat
Ms. Lloyd compared a sweater that Ms. Sierra was wearing to the LOC’s. cagsEtef.’s Mot.
20 (quoting Sierra Dep. 78:156). Plaintiff argues that this comment was “meant to embarrass
her (Sierra) because ‘everybody knew that nobody likedaiget’™ 1d. (quoting Sierra Dep.
78:11). She contends, moreover, that Ms. Lloyd was judgmental about her clothing on multiple
occasions and would look at “Plaintiff $tise from top to bottom in a judgmaeaitfashion” when
Ms. Sierra arrived at the office each morning.’sRDppn 14 (quoting Sierra Dep. 79). Second,
in 2011, Ms. Lloyd and Ms. Sierra were attending an internal control conferemtieeiognd
conversing with other attendees during a break in proceedings. Pl.’s Opdimth&.presence

of this group Plaintiff alleges that Ms. Lloyd did not permit Ms. Sierra to excuse hersetkto u

12



the restroom, saying in front of the other attendees, “[n]o, you go to the ladies’ fteothe
session is over, and you go to the second floor” restroom, which was not the facilityused b
others at the conferencéd. (quotingSierra Dep83).
D. One-on-One Communications

In addition,Ms. Sierra describesseries of on@n-one interactions with Ms. Lloyas

further support for her discriminatory hostile work environment claim.
1. Private Communications

Ms. Sierra contends that Ms. Lloyd subjected her to offensive comments ite priva
conversations between therm 2010, after Ms. Sierra was asked to assist with a teleconference
involving the American Embassy in Mexidds. Lloyd allegedly became angry that Ms. Sierra’s
helphad been requested and called her a “traiR’s Opp’n 9 (citing Sierra Dep. 63—68ierra
Aff. 12; Walfall Aff. 3), warning her that she should “tell [her] friends not to give [Plaintiff’s]
name for any other projegtsd. at 10 (citing Sierra Dep. 7&ierra Aff. 12). Plaintiff alleges
that Ms. Lloyd’s lack of support forced her to turn down the opportudge d. at9. Ms.
Lloyd denies any recollection of this inciderdl. at 10 (citingDef.’s Resp.Pl.’s Interrogs. 9
Lloyd Dep. 130:15-131:4). Approximately one month later, Ms. Sierra avers that Ms. Lloyd
again raised the incident andmpared Plaintiff to Jerry Sandusky, a notorious ahibdestey
during her performance evaluation, which Ms. Lloyd similarly denliés(citing Sierra Dep.
73—74; Sierra Aff. 17; Lloyd Dep. 131:5-131:21). And on November 18, 20d.1Sierra
alleges that Ms. Lloydhastised heior going to talk to Mr. Pagand referred to her as a
“betrayer” for her conductPl.’s Opp’n 40(citing Sierra Aff. 8). Plaintiff further contends that,
during this same conversation, Ms. Llapgdoked matrilineal concepts in a way that was

offensiveand disrespectful of her cultur&ee id. Def.’s Mot. 20.

13



In addition,Ms. Sierra arguethat the interaction centering on the event with the
American Embassy in Mexico is part of a pattéis. Lloyd “seemed to specifically disdain
when Ms. Sierravould participaten events involving other Latin American countrie®f.’s
Opp’n 4Q For instance, when Ms. Sierra asked to participatiee LOC’s 2013 “Celebration of
Mexico” event, she argues that Ms. Lloyd suddenly required her to complete arteori-
assignment,” such that Plaintiff could only attend during her lunch bidakt41; see also
Compl. T 25(i). Defendant contests this reporting, asserting that the task iomuestithe
preparation of the Internal Control Program Annual Report, which was a major part of Ms
Sierra’s professional duties each year. .Béflot. 14 (citing Sierra Dep. 160:8, ayd Aff.

18). Ms. Lloyd furtherproffers that she was in fact quite supportive of Ms. Sierra’s participation
in the event.See . at 15 (quoting Nov. 23, 2018 Email from Lloyd, ECF No. 3{Thank you
for selecting Marthd_ucia to join your team a&e¢ Library celebrates Mexico. | am certain she
will add value to the program.”)).

2. Staff Communications

Finally, Plaintiff argues that Ms. Lloyd’s ongoing interactions with her staff contributed
to a hostile work environmengor instance, Plaintiff atges that Ms. Lloyd “frequently showed
favoritism towards the other members of the office, particularly theatinte males,” as was the
case when she “arbitrarily changed” Plaintiff's May 23, 2011, meeting &adier time in favor
of one of the white ma employeesPl.’s Opp’n 42. Ms. Lloyd’s supervisaleff Page,
confirms this account, stating that he “found that Ms. Lloyd was often mom&tafithe
[Plaintiff] than of other members of Ms. Lloyd’s staff. . anfl [m]ale employees generally
seemed to be treated with more respect than the women who were supervised by W5. Lloy

Page Aff. 3.Ms. Sierra’scoworker,Ms. Walfall, alsoseparatelalleged that Ms. Lloyd was

14



creating a hostile work environment, as documented in an email chain between Man&age
April McCarty, the LOC’s Senior Employee Relations Specialist. Ppg'®20(citing Jan. 2,
2019 Email from McCarty, ECF No. 27-17)his environment was so stressful that “it
overwhelmed Plaintiff, to the point where Plaintiff fainted while at worlkl."at 15 (citing
Morse Dep. 85:16—-87:2).

The questiondcingthis Court is whether the incidents that Ms. Sierra documents amount
to a cognizable claim for, first, discrimimay and retaliatory nepromotion in 2013 and,
second, a discriminatory hostile work environment.

IV. LEGAL STANDARD
A. Rule 12 Motion

Defendanbrings a Rule 12 motion that was originally styled as a Rule 12(b)(6) motion
to dismissPlaintiff's 2013 non-promotio claim® This Court will first address why it treats this
motion as a Rule 12(b)(6) motion and then describe the controlling legal standard.

1. Second Rule 12(b)(6) Motion

Theplain text of theFederal Rules of Civil Procedure might seem to disallow a gecon

Rule 1Zb)(6) motion Rule 12(g)(2) states thad party that makes a motion under . . UR]

[12] must not make another motion under this rule raising a defense or objection that was

5> Defendant originally filedts motion asa second Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiSee
generallyDef.’s Mot Deferdant’sreply subsequently “acknowledge[d] that its dispositive
motion, while inadvertently styled under Rule 12(b)(6), should have been brought under Rule
12(c)” as a motion for judgment on the pleadings. Def.’s Opp’n 1 n.1. This Court dis&gttees t
the dispositive motion is properly construed as a Rule 12(c) motion. Because Defersdaoit
filed an answer, the pleadings are not closeeeManiaci v. Georgetown Uniy510 F. Supp. 2d
50, 60 (D.D.C. 2007) (“Pleadingseclosedwithin the meaning oRule 12(c) if no counter or
cross claims are at issue when a complaint and an answer have bek(ciilad Fed. R. Civ.
P. 7(a))). A 12(c) motion for judgment on the pleadings is thus premature. As distuBaed
Section IV.A.1, this Court concludes that it may address Defendant’s motion asd Bede
12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.
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available to the party but omitted from its earlier motion,” unless one of thptexteprovided

in Rule 12(h)(2) or (3) applies. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(g){2¢re, Defedant already brought one
12(b)(6) motion to dismiss artbis Court’'sJune 2017 Memorandum Order found that Plaintiff's
original complaint alleged a claim with respect to the 2013 non-promtiadris at issue here
SeeSierra, 254 F. Supp. 3d 244 n.11. Accordingly, Defendant could have brought the present
Rule 12(b)(6) motion as part of the earleotion to dismiss None of the Rule 12(h) exceptions
apply, moreoverhecause Defendadbesnot contest subject matter jurisdiction, the pleadings
have notyet closed, and the case is not at the trial st&geFed. R. Civ. P. 12(h)(2]3). In the
instant case, then, Rule friiight seem to disallowa second 12(b)(6) motion.

However, “in a limited number of casedhk district court has exercised its discretion to
permit a second preliminary motion to present a Rule 12(b)(6) defehiselsey v. Wited
States448 F. Supp. 2d 37, 55 (D.D.C. 2006) (quotsigffels ex rel. SBC Concession Plan v.
SBC Commc'n, Inc430 F. Supp. 2d 642, 647 (W.D. Tex. 200 court is most likely to
permit a second such motion if “the problem [Rule] 12(g) was designed to prevent—umyecessa
delay—(is] not a concern.”ld. (alteration in original{quotingStoffels 430 F. Supp. 2d at 648
(internal citation omitted))see alsaCampbellEl v. District of Columbia881 F. Supp. 42, 43
(D.D.C. 1995) (entertaining renewed 12(b)(6) motion “in order to avoid undue delay” and noting
thatDefendants were not “repeating arguments on which the Court ha[d] alreadinsubbt
ruled”); Donnelli v. Peters Se€o, No. 02C 0691, 2002 WL 2003217, at ¥.D. Ill. Aug. 29,
2002) (permitting second Rule 12(b)(6) motion where “defendants’ motion was not filee for t
purpose of delay and . . . adjudication of the instant motion w[ould] narrow the scope of th[e]

matter, greatly expediting resolution of the case”).
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Here, unnecessary delay is not a concern because the paréestitalated their
arguments regarding the 2013 non-promotion claim and the Court has not already ruled on this
issue In fact,this Court expresslgieclinedto rule on this issue in its 2017 Opinio8eeSierra,
254 F. Supp. 3d at 245. Moreover, the second motion to dismiss is being considered
simultaneously to the post-discovery motion for summary judgment. As such, therddky
that has resulted froseriatimmotions to dismiss delaying the commencement of discovery.
And if anything, a failure to considerealinstantmotion couldcausedelaybecause strict
construal of Rule 12 coubtill permit Defendant téile ananswer, such that the pleadings would
be formally closed, and thdile a new motiorfor judgment on the pleadings under Ru2¢c).
Furthermorethis Court’s adjudication of the 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss Plaintiff's chaith
efficiently resolve the non-promotiaesuespending in this caseegardless of the fact thau
answer has, apparently, inadvertently never been fextordingly, particularly because
Plaintiff adopts the Rule 12(b)(6) language in its own opposition and hasised any Rule
12(g) objection, this Court will treat Defendant’s Rule 12 Motion as a Rule 12(b)(6)Moti
Dismiss.

2. Motion to Dismiss

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure require that a complaint contain “a stdqtaén
statement of the claim” in order to give the defendant fair notice of the alad the grounds
upon which it rests. Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)&e alsderickson v. Pardys51 U.S. 89, 93 (2007)
(per curiam). A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) does not test a plaiatiffhate
likelihood of success on the merits; rather, it tests whether a plaintiff haslprstpéed a claim.
SeeScheuer v. Rhode416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974T.he complaint’s factual allegations are to be

taken as true, and the court is to construe them liberally in the plaintiff's f@eer;, e.gUnited
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States vPhilip Morris, 116 F. Supp. 2d 131, 135 (D.D.C. 200B8ptwithstanding thisiberal
construal, the court deciding a Rule 12 motion must parse the complaint for “sufécierat
matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on it% faskcroft v.

Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiBgll Atl. Cap. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)).
This plausibility requirement means that a plaintiff's factual allegations “mustdugerto raise
a right to relief above the speculative level, on the assumption that all the allegratioa
complaint areruie (even if doubtful in fact). Twombly 550 U.S. at 555%6 (citations omitted).
A plaintiff's “[tjhreadbarerecitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere
conclusory statements,” are insufficient to withstand a motion to dishajisal, 556 U.S. at 67.8
A court need not accept a plaintiff's legal conclusions as $eeid., nor must a cotipresume
the veracity of legal conclusions that are couched as factual allegatemsvombly 550 U.S.
at 555.

The court ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss “may consider the factsdaillege
the complaint, documents attached as exhibits or incorporated by reference inplertpor
documents upon which the plaintiff's complaint necessarily relies even if tenéot is
produced noby [the partiek” Busby v. Capital One, N.£932 F. Supp. 2d 114, 133-34
(D.D.C. 2013 (alteration in originallinternal citations and quotations omittesBe alsoMpoy
v. Rhee758 F.3d 285, 291 n.1 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (citations omittéd v. Inter—Am. Inv.,

Corp., 536 F. Supp. 2d 41, 46 n.5 (D.D.C. 2008)ation omitted). The court may also take
“judicial notice of facts on the public record . . . when an undisputed fact on the public record
makes it clear that the plaintiff does not statdaim to relief upon which relief could be
granted.” See Cova€Commc’ns Co. v. Bell Atl. Corp07 F.3d 1220, 1222 (D.C. Cir. 2005)

(quotingMarshall Cty. Health Care Auth. v. Shala@88 F.2d 1221, 1228 (D.C. Cir. 1993)).
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B. Motion for Summary Judgment

Defendant also moves for summary judgment on Plaintiff's hostile work environment
claims. Summary judgment is proper when “the movant shows that there is no gespune di
as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of lawR. E&d.P.
56(a). A “material” facis one capable of affecting the substantive outcome of the litigation.
SeeAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Ine&l77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). A dispute is “genuine” if there is
enough evidence for a reasonable finder of fact to decide in favor of the non-m®gaftott
v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2007).

Summary judgment endeavors to streamline litigation by disposing of factually
unsupported claims or defenses and thereby determining whether trial is genessiyany.
SeeCelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323—-24 (1986). The movant bears the initial burden
of identifying portions of the record that demonstrate the absence of any gesumef
material fact.SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1§;elotex 477 U.S. at 323. In response, the non-
movant nust point to specific facts in the record that reveal a genuine issue thathtedoita
trial. SeeCelotex 477 U.S. at 324. In considering a motion for summary judgment, a court must
“eschew making credibility determinations or weighing the evidend@ggkalski v. Peterg75
F.3d 360, 363 (D.C. Cir. 2007), and all underlying facts and inferences must be analyzed in the
light most favorable to the non-movasgeAnderson477 U.S. at 255. Nevertheless,
conclusory assertions offered without any evidentiary support do not establish a gesuene i
for trial. SeeGreene v. Daltonl64 F.3d 671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 1999).

V. ANALYSIS
As a threshold matter, @fCourt will clarify which of Plaintiff'sfactual allegationand

associated evidence it considerassessing her claim®laintiff's originalcomplaint include
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discriminatory non-promotion claim, Compl. { 4lretaliatory nospromotionclaim covering
2014 to 2016id. at 11 4344, and a hostile work environmteclaimasserting thatMs. Sierra
has been subjected to unwelcome harassment” loaisedte, sex, and nationalityd. at 33. As
discussed previously, this Court granted in part Defendant’s first 12(b)(6) motion amskeéis
the claims “related to thallegedly discriminatory and retaliatory npromotions that occurred
from 2008 to 2012 and from 2014 to 2018jérra, 254 F. Supp. 3dt 233 while reserving
judgment on Plaintiff's 2013 non-promotion claisgeid. at 245. It is thus clear thahe 2008 to
2012 and 2014 to 2016 failure to promote claims areawbionable as discrete discriminatory
acts. SeeNat'l| R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgas86 U.S. 101, 113 (2002). The question is
whetherthe non-promotiorlaims even if not individually etionable, may entethe Court’s
hostile work environment analysis.

A footnote inPlaintiff’'s oppositionargues that the answer is yes: Plairitifks the non-
promotion and hostile work environment theories of relief, asserting[tha¢ failure to
promote claims from 2008 to 2013 are still a part of the hostile work environment claimf eve
not discrete acts standing alone.” Pl.’s Opp’n 33 n.20. Defendant’s reply does not adslress thi
point. Given Defendars failure to address thissue this Courtconsiders Plaintiff’'sion-
promotion claims from 2008 to 2013 as evidence in support of her hostile work environment
claim, regardless of the merits of Plaintiff's apromotion claims as individual claims for

relief.b

® Because Plaintiff does not at any point argue that the 2014 to 2016 retaliatoeyttail
promote allegations should be considered in the context of her hostile work environnment clai
the Court will not address whether Plaintiff might have raisedaiatory hostile work
environment theory of relief. The Court considers only the 2008 to @8&Bminatoryfailure
to promote allegations.
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“[T]he D.C. drcuit has made clear that the same acts may ‘simultaneously support
different types of Title VII claims’ since ‘plaintiffs are free to plead ali¢ive theories of harm
that might stem from the same allegedly harmful condu&eéters v. bstrict of Coumbia, 873
F. Supp. 2d 158, 195 (D.D.C. 2012jting Baird v. GotbaungBaird 1), 662 F.3d 1246, 1252
(D.C.Cir. 2011). A distinct legal standard applies to each theory of rétiefeciding a hostile
work environment claim, a court’s “task isdetermine whether the acts about which [the
plaintiff] complains are part of the same actiondimstilework environment practice, and if so,
whether any act falls within the statutory time perio8ingletary v. D.G.351 F.3d 519, 528
(D.C. Cir. 2003) (quotinglorgan 536 U.Sat 120). The Supreme Court recently clarified that
Title VII's chargefiling requirement is1ot a jurisdictional requirement, but rather stands as a
mandatory clairprocessing ruleSeeFort Bend County v. Davjd39 S. Ct. 1843, 1848-52
(2019). A court must enforce a claim processing rule “if a party ‘propedggdi.”” Id. at 1849
(quotingEberhart v. United State$46 U.S. 12, 15, 19 (2005) (per curium)). But an objection
based on a mandatory clapnocessing rule may be forfeited” if not timely raiséd. (quoting
Eberhart 546 U.Sat15).

Here,Defendant has not argued in eithertsimotions to dismisghe non-promotion
claimsor inits motion for summary judgment on the hostile work environment diaai
Plaintiff failed to timely file an administrative complaint associated withdisariminatory
hostile work environment theory of relieNor does Defendant argue that Ms. Sierra’s
discriminatory non-promotion clainase analytically distinct from hdrostile work environment
claim. Accordingly, the Coudccepts as undisputéthat Plaintiff's nospromotion allegations
form part of the same chaaf eventsas the rest diierdiscrimnatory hostile work environment

claim and considerbls. Sierra’s2008 to 2013ailure to promote allegatioresone piece of
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relevant evidence in assessing Defendant’s motion for summary judgnielaimiiff's hostile
work environment claim. Parsing the evidence before it in this way, for the reagbftsth
below, the Counwill grant Defendant’s motion to dismiss Plaifigf2013 failure to promote
claim anddenyin partDefendant motion for summary judgment on Plaintiff's hostile work
environment claim.
A. 2013 Non-Promotion

Even construing the pleadings in the light most favorabiamtiff, as it mustthe
Court concludes that Ms. Sieflnas not established a plausible discriminatory or retaliatory non
promotion claim for the year 2013. As discussed in this Court’s June 2017 memorandum
opinion, b establish a prima facren-promotion claim in a case involving denial of a grade or
salary promotion, a plaintiff “must show that (1) [s]he sought and was denied a pror@pfion (
which [s]he was qualified, and (3) that other employees of similar qualificsati. . were indeed
promoted at the time the plaintiff's request for promotion was deni@deSierra, 254 F. Supp.
3d at 244-254(terations and omission in originajuotingNurriddin v. Bolden40 F. Supp. 3d
104, 120 (D.D.C. 2014)nternal alterations and quotation marks omif{ese alsaraylor v.
Small 350 F.3d 1286, 1294 (D.C. Cir. 2008jf'd, 818 F.3d 751 (D.C. Cir. 2016},0nes v.
Shalalg 199 F.3d 512, 517 (D.C. Cir. 2000). Although a plaintiff neecptestd all the elements
of a prima facie case to surviveda(b)(6) motion to dismissee Jones v. Air Line Pilots Ass'n,
Int’l, 642 F.3d 1100, 1104 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (citi@gierkiewica/. Sorema N.A534 U.S. 506,
511 (2002), she must still plead factual allegations that suffice to make out a plausible alaim fo
relief.

Here, Plaintiff’s factual allegations do not sustain a plausible retaliataliig@rminatory

non-promotion theory of relief for the year 201ds. Sierrahas not established that she sought
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out an increase in salary or grade in the year 2013. To be sure, Ms. Sierra contestesdiuht

in fact seek a promotidginom the GS13 to the GS-14 level in 2013 because“sligcussed the
prospect of promotion regularly” with her supervisor Aad“sought a career ladder promotion
since 2008.” Pl.’s Opp’n 29-3®he argues that she expected a promotion because “[i]t was
explained tdher], and[she] believed based upon observing practice within the Library, tieat s
would be promoted to the GS-14 level within two years of the commencement of her position of
Management Analyst.” Compl. § 17. Plaintiff thus appears to urge the Court to tcihrenec

dots: ifher understanding of LOC practices led hendoegt a promotion within two years of
being hired in 200,/yetshe was not promoted by 2009 and still had not been promoted as of
2013, then of course she must have sought a promotion in 2013. But this inference does not
support Ms. Sierra’s complaint asegal mater. A court“need not accept inferences. if such
inferences are unsupported by the facts set out in the compliowal v. MCI Commc’ns

Corp, 16 F.3d 1271, 1276 (D.C. Cir. 1994).

Here,Plaintiff fails to present anfactual allegations to suppdhe premis¢hat she
formally sought a promotion in the year 2013otiNng in Plaintiff's original complainbr
subsequent pleadings, includiRtaintiff’'s opposition to Defendant’s motion to dismiss her 2013
non-promotion claimestablishes thd#ls. Sierra specifically sought and was denied a
promotion” in 2013.Nurriddin, 40 F. Supp. 3d at 120 (quotimgylor, 350 F.3d at 1294%ee
also Bundy641 F.2d at 953. Plaintiff thus cannot plausgsyablish the first element required
to make out a non-promotion claim in a case involving denial of a grade or salary promoti

Furthermore, Ms. Sierrdoes not plead facts that plausibigicatethat “other employees
of similar qualifications . . . were indeed promoted at the time the plaintiff es¢dor

promotion was denied.Nurriddin, 40 F. Supp3dat120 (omission in original) (quotingaylor,
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350 F.3d at 1294 Plaintiff has not alleged thainy other promotionseremade in Ms. Sierra’s
department in the year 2018 fact, according to Bfendant, [L OC] records show that no one
else was promoteid the SPO office during the entire time Karen Lloyd was the supervisor.”
Def.’'s Mot. 5-6. Plaintiff offers nocontraryfactualallegationghatindicate that there weany
promotionsduring her tenure in the SPO office. In short, even construed in the light most
favorable to Ms. Sierra, none Bfaintiff's factual allegationsuggeseither that sheought a
promotion in the year 2013 or that others were promoted in that sauch, she cannot state a
nonpromotion claim for relief that is plausible on its fasee Igbal 556 U.S. at 678, and the
Court will thus grant Defendant’s motion to dismiss Plaintiff’'s 2013 non-promotion claim.
B. Discriminatory Hostile Work Environment

In addition to her failure to promote clain®aintiff's discriminatory hostile work
environment claim seeks relief foer “supervisor’'s demonstrable bias and hostility toward he
Compl. § 1. Plaintiff specifically contends that svees subjectetb severe and persistent
harassment by her supervisor, Ms. Lloyd, because of her race (Hispanar)ahatigin
(Colombian),and/or sex (femalekreating a hostile work environment that unreasonably
interfered with her job performancéd. 1133—-34. Defendant argues that this hostile work
environment claim fails because Plaintifiglectso provide adequate naonclusory evidence
to sustain her allegations and because the incidentshéhatentifies do not rise to a legally
actionabélevel. Def.’s Mot 8-9. Defendannhakestwo argumentsld. First, Defendant
assertghat the claims “warrant summary judgment because they fall far short sktrege or
pervasive’ showing that courits this Circuit require.”ld. at6. Second, Defendant contends that
Ms. Sierra cannot establish the requisite “linkage between the hostile dredwadgthe plaintiff's

membership in a protected cla$st any of her claims based on race, national origirsex. Id.
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at8 (quotingRomén v. Castro149 F. Supp. 3d 157, 170 (D.D.C. 2016pe alsdef.’s Reply 4
(“Plaintiff's [a]lleged [a]cts [s]upporting the [h]ostile [w]ork [e]manment [c]laim [lJack [a]ny
[clonnection to [h]efs]ex, [r]ace, or [n]ational origin.”J. As detailed below, the Court lands
between the parties’ positions. The Court concludes that Plaintiff has dwdlihsit there are
genuine issues of material fact regarding both the severity or pervasieéttesslleged
conduct and the linkage between the alleged conduct and her membership in a platfed c
Plaintiff's claims of race/national origin discrimination, and it will deny Defetidanotion for
summary judgment on that basis. It further indowever, thatls. Sierrahas notallegedfacts
that would permit a reasonable juror to conclude that the conduct at issue was bebause of
status as a womarrhus, there are no genuine disputeshaterial fact for this aspect of
Plaintiff's claim, and theCourt will grant Defendant’s motion for summary judgment with regard
to Plaintiff’'s sexbased discriminatory hostile work environment claim.

1. Hostile Work Environment Legal Standard

Title VII protects employees against hostile and abusive working environnigviten

the workplace is permeated with ‘discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insalt'ish

‘sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions of the vistempbymert and create an

" Defendant’s motion for summary judgment centers on severity or pervasiyenes
whereas its reply emphasizes the lack of requisite linkage between Péaatigifjations and her
membership in a protected class. Plaintiff's opposition does not explicitly emitaghis
argumentjnstead focusing on what Plaintiff asserts are material facts in dispe&.e.g.Pl.’s
Opp’n 44. Although this Court will not consider arguments raised for the first tinepliyy see
In re Asemani455 F.3dat 300(citation omitted) Defendant’s original motion for summary
judgmentspecifically allegsthatPlaintiff cannot prove the required “linkage” between the
alleged conduct and her “membership in a protected class,” Def.’s Mot. 8 (qRotirg, 149
F. Supp. 3d at 1j0see als id.at 11 (“Sierra’s perception that she was being selectively
criticized because of her national origin, race, or sex finds no support in the rec®iras, the
issue of causation is not raised for the first time in reply, and the Court corsitie i
Defendant’s arguments.
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abusive working environment,” Title VIl is violatedHarris v. Forklift Sys., In¢.510 U.S. 17,

21 (1993) (quotingveritor Sav. Bank, FSB v. Vinso#/7 U.S. 57, 65, 67 (1986)Y.et Title

VII’s protections do not set out general civility code for the American workplaceCasey v.
Mabus 878 F. Supp. 2d 175, 189 (D.D.C. 2012) (quo@mgale v. Sundowner Offshore Servs.,
Inc., 523 U.S. 75, 80 (1998)). Even if a plaintiff alleges a stressful or harsh work environment,
not every such workplace is “discriminatorily abusigach that it is actionable under Title VII.
Harris, 510 U.Sat 22;see also Tucker v. Johns@11 F. Supp. 3d 95, 101 (D.D.C. 2016)
(discussingritle VII's “demanding legal standardguotingBergbauer v. Maby934 F. Supp.

2d 55, 77 n.20 (D.D.C. 2013))).

To make out a hostile work environmetdim for relief the allegedly discriminatory
conduct must not only be subjectively perceived as abusive, buieatsiisevere or pervasive”
that t “create[s] an objectively hostile or abusive work environme@&sey 878 F. Supp. 2dt
188 (quotingHarris, 510 U.S. at 21). There is no “mathematically precise tdsiiis, 510
U.S. at 22, for what makes a workplace “so objectively offensive aker theéconditions’ of
the victim s employment Oncale 523 U.S. at 81To determinavhether the allegedly
discriminatory conduct rises to this level, a court iartalyze théotality of the circumstances
In assessing thotality of the circumstances, a coartist“considerthe frequency of the
harassing conduct, its severity, whether it is physically threateningrolidting, and whether it
unreasonablinterferes with an employeework performancé. Stewart v. Evan2275 F.3d
1126, 1134-35 (D.C. Cir. 2002)i{ing Harris, 510 U.Sat21-23) see als@Baloch v.
Kempthorne550 F.3d 1191, 1201 (D.C. Cir. 2008)hig Circuit hasemphasized that “[t]he test
set forth by the Supreme Court is whether the alleged condscffigiently

severeor pervasivé—written in the disjunctive-not whether the conduct isufficiently
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severeandpervasive’ AyissiEtoh v. Fannie Maer12 F.3d 572, 579 (D.C. Cir. 2013)
(Kavanaugh, J., concurringgee also Baloghb50 F.3d at 1201 (disaggregating “severe” and
“pervasive’analysis)

In addition, to successfully make out a hostile work environment clgitajratiff must
show that the allegedharassment occurrdmbcause of the plaintiff's protected stdtuBeters v.
District of Columbia 873 F. Supp. 2d 158, 189 (D.D.C. 201d)ation omitted; see alsdorns
v. Geithney 692 F. Supp. 2d 119, 135-36 (D.D.C. 201efnal citations omitted). Critically,
theremust be &'linkage between the hostile behavior and the plaintiff's membership in a
protected class’ for a hostile work environment claim to proceBdriglas-Slade v. LaHoed
793 F. Supp. 2d 82, 101 (D.D.C. 2011) (quoti¥ajm v. Clinton,626 F. Supp. 2d 63, 73
(D.D.C. 2009)) see also Baloglb50 F.3cat 1201. The sameéotality of the circumstances
analysis applies in assessing whether there is such a lingageBaloch550 F.3d at 1201.

2. Severity or Pervasiveness of Alleged Conduct

In assessing whether the conduct at issue here is so severe or pervasive that @creates
objectively hostile wik environmentthe Court bears two competing principles in mikdfst,
the Courtmust be certain to assess the facts before it in ®¢e. lyoha. Architect of the
Capitol, 927 F.3d 561, 568 (D.C. Cir. 2010A district court errs inreviewing each racially
charged remark individually and finding it insufficieréither than considering the statements
‘alongside any additional statementsnd all other evidencé.(quoting Morris v. McCarthy,
825 F.3d 658, 670 (D.C. Cir. 200p Second, sithe same timéhat it reviews the alleged facts
in the aggregate, the Court must take care to consider whether the alleged conduct has the

requisite heft to be actionablesrwhether iamounts to a series of “slights” that &ne more a
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hostile work environment than a pile of feathers is a crushing weiglaiird v. Gotbaun{Baird
1), 792 F.3d 166, 171-72 (D.C. Cir. 2015).

Here, Defendant paisPlaintiff’'s account as a series of events that are not severe or
pervasive enough to be actionable, whether considered individually or collectivélis ND&.
9. Defendant characterizes the alleged incidents as “a handful of events and coratents t
occurred over the course of more than four years” and are disconfrectelelaintiff’'s national
origin, race, or sexsuch that summary judgment is warrantitl.at 21-22. The Court agrees
with Defendant that, iMs. Lloyd’s actsare taken individually, then none of thkegedactions
that Ms. Sierra describ@seof the sort deemeskevereenough to make out a hostile work
environment claim for relief There is no single event that meets the high threshmidh-as the
use of a universally offensive racial epithg¢hatsuggests an objectively hostile or abusive work
environment.Compare Brooks. Grundmann748 F.3d 1273, 1277-78 (D.C. Cir. 2014)
(outbursts and “tactless and ill-mannered” supervisors and coworkers do naoslestasiile
work environment)with AyisstEtoh 712 F.3cat 577 (suggesting thatasonable factfinder
might be able t@onclude that use of extremely offensive racial epithet while yelling at
employee was sufficiently severe or pervasive to create hostile work mmend). But conduct
can be actionable if it isevereor pervasive.SeeAyissiEtoh 712 F.3cat 579 (Kavanaugh, J.,
concurring). And as set forth below, the Court finds that a reasonable jury coulddeotint
Plaintiff's supervisor’s conduct, assessed in its totality, peasasivan a way that created a
discriminatory hostile work environment.

Considering, first, the frequency of the alleged incidehis,not clear as a matter of law
that they were too diffuse to qualify as actional¥s. Sierra’s complainincludes a period that

runs from 2008 to 2016, yet focuses on events from 2009 to ZDdf@éndant alshomes in on
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this four-yearperiod in its motion for summary judgmergeeDef.’s Mot. 9 (referring tda
series of events that occurred from 2009-20.18Vithin this window, Ms. Sierra’s filings
canvass a significant number of incidents.

For one Plaintiff allegesthat Ms. Lloydrepeatedly thovedthe goalposts” for success in
her position, Pl.’s Opp’n 2, by adding new requirements during each of the evaluation jperiods
2009 (take the ICP out of the library), 2010 (acquire supervisory experience), and 2011 (improve
writing), respectivelysee idat4, 11-12. She further points to incidents at the mph@P
meetings wherein Ms. Lloyd interrupted Ms. Sieara “would literally ‘interpret’ what Ms.

Sierra was sayingyPl.’s Opp’n 37,in a fashion that Ms. Sierrat®workes have characterized
as “blatantly racist,id. (quoting Claypoole Aff. Addendum 4)Plaintiff states that these
interruptions occurred “[d]uring multipl@onthlyinternal Control Program meetings” and
identifies the specific dates of four such interruptions between 2010 and 1202237 & n.22
(emphasis addedMs. Siera avers that “Ms. Lloydrequentlyordered Ms. Sierra to repeat her
statements” and “looked at Ms. Sierra during her presentations with distthiat’37. $e also
provides aifferent coworkes statement thatjuringstaff meetings, Ms. Lloyd would “ask Ms.
Sierra to restate something” in a manner thattveorker found unnecessary “because [Ms.
Sierra] had described it sufficiently the first timeMforse Dep. 53:14-55:4.

Above and beyond these incidents, and in addition to the specific 2009 rehearsal at which
Ms. Lloyd allegedly mocked Ms. Sierra’s accent and compared her speechab wév wah”
sound, Plaintifidescribesa number of othgproblematic interactions with Ms. LloydHer
allegations include Ms. Lloyd'sestriction of her direct communications with Mr. Page
beginning in March 201&eePl.’s Opp’n 39, criticism of Ms. Sierra for volunteering for a

teleconference for preservation by the American Embassy in Mexicorh2@d 0,id. at 40

29



(citing Page Aff. 2)and calling Plaintiff a “traitor” a well asforbidding her to give her name to
her “friends” for any similar projectg]. The next year, in 2011, Ms. Lloyd allegedly called Ms.
Sierra a “betrayer” for a conversation with Mr. Pagge. In this same caversation, Ms. Sierra
states that Ms. Lloyd invoked her matriarchy in a manner that was extreisrelypectful of her
culture. Id. Plaintiff further points to Ms. Lloyd’s restriction of her ability to partatig in the
LOC’s 2013 “Celebration of Mex@' event as evidence of the way in which “Ms. Lloyd seemed
to specifically disdain when Ms. Sierra would participate in events involving o#tter L
American countries.”ld. Moreover, Plaintiff suggests that Ms. Lloyd humiliated her in public
on multipleoccasions, such as by comparing her outfit to carpet that “nobody liked,” Sigxra De
78:11, and by forbidding her to use the common restroom at a work event in 2011, Sierra Dep.
82:18-25 to 83:1-8. This last allegation, to have one’s bathroom useteedlife a child
before one’s colleagues, could be considered public humiliation by any reasorable jur

In this Circuit,allegedly discriminatorgonduct has been found nantionable in cases
that like this one, spanned four to five years. For instand®;doks v. Grundmanrhe D.C.
Circuit found that the identified conduct essentially amounted to isolated “siqprss$ of
frustration” over several years. 748 F.3d at 12&id several district courts in thiCircuit have
followed a hard line and found conduct non-actionable when it did not occur with great
frequency.See, e.gNurriddin v. Bolden674 F. Supp. 2d 64, 93-94 (D.D.C. 2009) (finding no
hostile work environment where, over an approximately four-year period, glaiatfsubjected
to “disparaging remarks, criticisms of his work, and other negative catsfres well as
“removal of important assignments, lowered performance evaluations, andalotey of
assignments”) Akonjiv. Unity HealthcareInc, 517 F. Supp. 2d 83, 97-99 (D.D.C. 2007)

(finding no hostile work environment despite five distinct instancegxial harassment by

30



coworkes over eighteen monthsBut seeRichardson v. Petasi460 F. Supp. 3d 88, 126-27
(D.D.C. 2015)denying motion for summary judgment when employer made physical threats of
violence, removed supervisory duties, reassigned plaintiff, and took disciplitiarysaeithin

the span of several months).

Critically, the Supreme Court idarris did not set out a mathematical test for what
amounts to pervasively abusive condusees10 U.S. at 22see also Domingue2urry v.
Nevada Transp. Dep'd24 F.3d 1027, 1037 (9th. Cir. 2005) (rejecting district court’s
characerization of conducas“a handful” of “isolated, sporadic incidents” that occurred “over a
five year period” in the face of testimony that the alleged acts “were likgdayejokes” that
occurred “so many different times” (internal quotation marks od)ikt®odgers v. Western
Southern Life Ins. Cpl12 F.3d 668, 674 (7th Cir. 1993)T]here is neither a magic number of
harassing incidents that gives rise, without more, to liability as a matter ofdaa,umber of
incidents below which a plaintiff fis as a matter of law to state a claim.What matters is the
totality of the circumstances. And here, the Court finds that Plaintiff hasedfépecific
evidence that she was subjected to ongoing incidents that occinegaently’ Pl.’'s Opp’n 37,
and perhaps as often as every month atnt@tingsbetween 2010 and 2012. Thus, the Caurt
unable to say that these acts were so diffuse as to b&ctionable as a matter of law.

Moreover, Ms. Lloyd’s purportedattern of behavior is distinctdm the kinds of
“ordinary tribulations of the workplaceBrooks,748 F.3dat 1277-78 (quotingraragher v. City
of Boca Raton524 U.S. 775, 788 (1998}hat“are not actionable under Title V1id. at 1278.
Pairing the allegations regarding M&erra’s accent and participationLatin American events
with the allegations regarding Ms. Lloyd’s publicly humiliating commentsrapeated denial of

workplace opportunities, such as the approval of a detail and the fact that she was atgdorom

31



despite apparently meeting theals &t out for her, a reasonable juror could conclude that the
alleged conduct amounts to more than dismissible “slights.”

To assess the totality of the circumstances, the Court cannot single out juspecteoé
this evidence.This is not a case that efjesonly that asupervisor criticized and was rude to an
employee, such that the court found the conduct “insufficient as a matter of lawdstile
work environment case.Singh v. U.S. House of Representati3& F. Supp. 2d 48, 54-56
(D.D.C. 2004) (granting motion for summary judgment on hostile work environment claim
where supervisor purportedly overlooked employee, spoke to her in a hostile and patronizing
manner, shut her out of meetings, and denied travel opporturseesalsdrooks 748 F.3d
(granting motion for summary judgment on hostile work environment claim where fib haigusi
subjected to criticism and in which voices were raised in meetingarnda-half years apart).
Nor is it a case that centessly on supervisorghoices such as “€hremoval of important
assignments, lowered performance evaluations, and close scrutiny of asgghyne
managemerit which other courts in this circuit have concluded canbetc¢haracterized as
sufficiently intimidating or offensive in an ordinary workplace corijexo be actionable.
Nurriddin, 674 F. Supp. 2d at 94iting Bell v. Gonzales398 F. Supp. 2d 78, 92 (D.D.C. 2005)).
Nor is it a case that alleges omslyess ad tension with a supervisor, and as such falls short of
Title VII's legal standard See e.g, Cooper v. NielserNo. CV 17-10 (ABJ), 2019 WL

1254933, at *7 (D.D.C. Mar. 19, 201%ohcluding that “stress” and “confusion” as well as

feeling “always on guard,” “demeaned,” “excluded,” “harassed and badgered” wejectsau
feelings[that] are not enough to defeat summary judgment”
Rather, he facts offered to the Couwrdmbine many of the factors that individually might

not cross the pervasiveness threshold. But this Court will not focus so closely on individual
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aspects of the complaint that it becomes myapiaut the bigger picture. Heraking all facts
in favor of Plaintiff—asthe Court must—the combination alfegedincidents over time,
coupled withevidencethat Plaintiff was not permitted to go on a detail or promoted over seven
years despite meeting specified performance gaatsadding in a number of incidents
involving public humiliation, could lead reasonalel jurorto find the alleged conduct so
pervasive that it altered the conditions of Ms. Sierra’s employment anddcesaédusive work
environment.Cf. Singletary351 F.3dat 526—-28 (declining to grant summary judgment and
finding genuine dispute of material fact as to sevemifyervasiveness where employer failed to
give employee a formal job description for six yeashich meant that he was deniggmotion
opportunities, and also forced him to work in an unventilated storage room for a yedradf)d a
Where such a genuine dispute of material fact exists, summary judgment isnaotteca Thus,
the Courtcannot granDefendant’s motion for summary judgment on the basighleadlleged
work hostility was insufficiently severe or pervasive.
3. Linkage between Alleged Conduct and Protected Attributes

Having found that there is a question of fact concerning whether the work hdsétity t
Plaintiff experienced was sufficiently\s&e or pervasive, the Court must turrbefendans
argumentthat summary judgment is warranted becahsee is not the requisite linkage between
Ms. Lloyd’s alleged conduct and Ms. Sierra’s membership in a protected Skee3ef.’'s Mot.
8; Def.’s Reply 4-8. Defendaninitially discounts Ms. Lloyd’s alleged conduct based on the
“same actor inference:” because Ms. Lloyd hired Ms. Sierra, it is “probatideree” that she
did not discriminate against Plaintiff. Def.’s M@t(quotingVatel v. All of Auto Mfrs.627 F.3d
1245, 1247 (D.C. Cir. 2011)). Defendant contethds, in any eventhere simply is no

connection between the alleged conduct and Ms. Sierra’s race, national origin, lok. s¢41.
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Plaintiff's opposition counters by pointing $pecific evidence that Ms. Sierra contends leave
“material facts in disputé Pl.’'s Opp’n 1, 4445. For the reasons detailed below, the Court
agrees with Plaintiff that-notwithstanding the “same actor inferenedhe evidencén the
recordleaves genuine disputes of material fagareing the connection between the alleged
conduct and Ms. Sierrarsice/national originand thus will deny summary judgment on this
basis But the Court finds that Plaintiff has not established an adequate lip&tgeen the
alleged conduct and hesex such that no reasonable juror could find in her favor on this aspect
of herclaim. Thus, the Courtill grant in part Defendant’s motion for summary judgment
regarding Ms. Sierra’s sebased hostile work environment claim.
a. Raceand National Origiff

Defendantsserts that MsSSierra has failed to establish the requikitkage between Ms.
Lloyd’s alleged discriminatioandher status as a Colombian, Hispanic individigéeDef.’s
Mot. 11. Defendant emphasizes, in particular, Plaintiff's own admission that tasneondirect
connection between Ms. Lloyd’s comments or condact Ms. Sierra’s accentd. (citing Sierra
Dep. 151:15-20). Unsurprisinglijaintiff construes the facts differently and argues that “the
uncontroverted factgresented by Plaintiff prove that Plaintiff's direct supervisor,” Ms. Lloyd,
“made multiple discriminatory comments to Ms. Sierra based on Ms. Sierra’sahatigm]]
[and race.” Pl.’'s Opp’2. Ms. Sierra’s argument also emphasittesway in which M. Lloyd
“routinely ridiculed Plaintiff for her accent.”ld. Because both parties foreground the allegations

regarding Plaintiff's accent, the Court begins its analysis there.

8 The parties do not distinguish betwdlaintiff's nationality (Colombian) and race
(Hispanic) This is not a case in which such a distinction is importagt @ Colombian
plaintiff alleges that her Venezuelan supervisor subjected her to a hostilerwodoeent, or
favored her Panamaniaoworkers). Accordingly, this Court will consider Plaintiff's race and
national origin claims jointly.
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Theallegationgegarding Ms. Sierra’s accent are essential in evaluatingjaime that
Plaintiff was subjected to national origin discrimination. BeD.C. Circuithas made clear, “a
foreign accent and national origin are often intertwined, and courts can lookiénewiof
discrimination on the basis of one’s accent in support of a claim of national origin
discrimination.” lyoha 927 F.3d at 56{citing In re Rodriguez487 F.3d 1001, 1008-10 (6th
Cir. 2007);Fragante v. City & Cty. of HonoluJu888 F.2d 591, 596 (9th Cir. 1989)). Moreover,
mockery of an employee’s hame and accent can permit a jury to infer natiomal orig
discrimination, even where there is no “direct connection” between the dispacagingents
and the alleged discriminatiSnMayorga v. Merdon928 F.3d 85, 94 (D.C. Cir. 2019).
Accordingly, a court assessing allegations of a hostile work environment mesinctidats
analysis simply because theran@explicit connection between comments about an employee’s
accent anather specific acts comprising the hostile work environment. The Court hadyalre
determined that Ms. Lloyd subjected Plaintiff to a work environment that enaale juror
could find to be pervasively Btile. The next question becomes, “why?” Any evidence that
sheds light on that question must be considered. Mockery of one’s accent certaifigsquali

Here,Ms. Sierra describes a single incident during which Ms. Lloyd allegedly mocked
her accent anduggests that thiacidentwaspart ofa pattern ofliscriminatorybehavior.

Plaintiff avers that, during her September 15, 2009, presentation rehearsdbpydsnterrupted
her repeatedly, callduerpresentation “incoherefitand mockingly said “you’re talking like wa
wa wa”with a look of “disgust.” Pl.’s Opp’n 7Ms. Sierragproffers corroboration from a

coworker, Ms. Hernandez, who states that Ms. Lloyd “harshly crititaed “aggressively

¥ AlthoughMayorgainvolved a non-promotion claim, not a hostile work environimen
claim, this analytic point holds: mockery of an accent is to be considered alootjgde
evidence of national origin discrimination to determine whether a plaintiff hekenburden.
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harassed” Ms. Sierra “by interrupting and bombarding Plaintiff with tiavhile she was
practicing.” Id. at 8 (quoting Hernandez Aff. 3)n addition, Plaintiff details other meetings at
which Ms. Lloyd repeatedly interrupted her and asked others in the room if theytaadevhat
Ms. Sierra was saying in a way that suggested she needed “an interdcktat.1718.
Coworkers again sustain this account, with comorker Ms. Claypoole, characterizing Ms.
Lloyd’s interruptionsas“blatantly racis.” 1d. at 37 (quoting Claypoole Aff.)4 Moreover, Ms.
Lloyd’s own supervisor confirmed that Ms. Lloyd treated Plaintiff worsa tither employees
under her supervisiorSeePage Aff. 3. And there is no indication that any of these other
employees are from Latin America.

Taking these allegations to be true, as it mihgt,Court finds that a reasonable juror
could find Ms. Lloyd’s conduct regarding Ms. Sierra’s accent to be evidenceaiadairigin or
racebased discrimination. Unlikguitsin which courts in this circuit have granted summary
judgment, this is not a case in whielaintiff bases her claims of discrimination “on her own
conclusory allegations.Douglas-Slade793 F. Supp. 2dt 101; see also Dawson v. Reukauf
751 F. Supp. 2d 146, 151 (D.D.C. 20L0pPlaintiff] has not alleged that any of her supervisors .

. subjected her to derogatory insults because of her racBlaintiff merely asserts, based
solely upon her own statements, that she was subjected to frequent harassment and hostil
actions.” (internal quotation marksnitted). In this case, Plaintiff offers specific evidence that
connects Ms. Lloyd’s responses to her accent with her claim of race/natigialor
discrimination.

Moreover,the Court rejects Defendant’s argument that summary judgment is warranted
becausés. Lloyd never “said anything derogatory about Plaintiff's nationalmfi¢or] race.”

Def.’s Reply 45. As stated previouslihe Mayorgacourtemphasizedhat discrimnation can
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exist even where there is notdirect connectiohbetween disparaging comments and the

alleged discriminationSee928 F.3d at 94. In determining the cause for Ms. Lloyd’s hostility
towards Plaintiff, the Court must look at all evidence that sheds light on her motivalioese
incidents clearly doWith these principles in min@nd assessing the situation in its totakige
lyoha, 927 F.3d at 568his Court cannot conclude that the alleged incidents have no relationship
to Plaintiff's membership in arotected classs a matter of lawMs. Sierra points to specific,
corroborated evidence that Ms. Lloyd mocked her acedithought she required interpretation.
Thepresence gpatticularized evidence of this somiakes this casea far cry fromthose in which
other courts in this Circuit have found no connection between the allegedly offensivectam

and the protected class at hai@ke, e.gKline v. Springer602 F. Supp. 2d 234, 243 (D.D.C.
2009)(finding plaintiff had not provided record evidence to support hostile work environment
claims where [n]one ‘of the comments or actions directed at [the plaintiff] expressly focused on
[her] race.” (second and third alterations in original) (quotBejoch,550 F.3d at 1201)gff'd

sub nomKline v. Berry 404 F. App’x 505 (D.C. Cir. 2010%tewart v. Evan2275 F.3d 1126,

1129, 1131-33 (D.C. Cir. 2002 ftirming dismissal of sex discriminatidmsed hostile work
environment claim that centered on single phone call in which individual used offensive
profanitiesthat were not explicitly connected to plaintiff's $ein the instant case, a reasonable
juror could conclude thahé alleged incidents demonstrate a pattetmostility towardsvis.

Sierrds language/accenhata reasonable juror could consider evidence of national origin and/or
racebased discrimination. Accordingly, the Court cannot conclude, as a matter dfdatnet

requisite inkage between Ms. Lloyd’s conduct and Ms. Sierra’s &wd/omationalitydoes not
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existhere!® The Court thus denies Defendant’s motion for summary judgment on Plaintiff's
claimthat she was subjected to a hostile work environment based on her national origin and/or
race

b. Sex!

The final issue facing the Court is whetléaintiff has establishedhé requisite link
betweerMs. Lloyd’s alleged conducndMs. Sierra’ssex. For the following reasons, the Court
finds that a reasonabjeror could notconclude that the alleged discriminatory treatment was
because olfier status as a woman

Themajority of Ms. Sierra’s factual allegations focus on race and/or natiagai or
discrimination, nosex Thesolefactual allegatiomegarding sesbased discriminatiothat
Plaintiff proffers is a single incident wherdifts. Lloyd “arbitrarily changedMs. Sierra’s May
23, 2011, meeting to an earlier time in order to accommodate a white, male emplésee. P
Opp’n 42. Plaintiff's only other sex-specific discussion comes in the forthiod-party
statementsincluding, most notably, Mr. Page’s affidastatement thatMs. Lloyd was often
more critical of the [Plaintiff] . . . and [male employees] generally seemieel ieated with
more respect than the women who were supervised by Ms. Lloyd.” Page Aff. 3.

But even crediting this statemestch coroboration is not the same as specific facts. To
survive a motion for summary judgment, a plaintiff must poinsgetificfacts showing that

there is a genuine issue for trialCelotex 477 U.Sat323. And lere,Ms. Sierra fails to provide

10 Because it reaches this conclusion based on the alleged-ssle¢sdt commentalone,
the Court need not parse Ms. Sierra’s other allegations regardinggvaliéisses or attendance of
Latin American events, which reinforce this same conclusion.

11 Both parties’ arguments regarding deased discrimination are, in awd, conclusory,
and the Court addresses them despite the fact that many of the contentions on batimgides |
sex in alongside race and national origin, without offering any further Eisodir
argumentation about alleged sex discrimination.
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the requisite specific facte tebut Defendant’s contention that there is no connection between
her sex and Ms. Lloyd’s alleged acSeeDef.’s Reply 4-8. Other than the meeting incident,
Plaintiff does not point tany speific facts at all that link Ms. Lloyd’s alleged conduct to
Plaintiff's status as a woman. To be sure, Plaintiff does state that therevesdtssfa toward

“the two white males” in the office, Pl.’s Opp’n 42, and notes that another “mirfoabavhite)
femald]” also alleged that Ms. Lloyd created a hostile work environnieraf 20 But Ms.

Sierra does herself a disservicedtggingrace/nationality and sexased allegations in the same
clause Without more that links the conduct to sex, in more specific terms, there is not non-
conclusory backingp permit the inference that the conduct at issuebg&aause fosex. Even in
deciding a motion for summary judgment, the Court need not accept conclusonyaedarse

true. See Greenel64 F.3d at 675 (“Although, as a rule, statements made by the party opposing
a motion for summary judgment must be accepted as true for the purpose of ruling on that
motion, some statements are so conclusory as to come within an exception to that

rule” (citations omitted)) Thus, Plaintiff's evidentiary showing is insufficient to establish
specific facts in support of her claim.

Moreover, Plaintiff has failed to specify which facts are in dispute in a mémater
creates a genuine issue for tridlhere is a genuine issue for trial when a rational juror could find
for the non-moving partySeeMatsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co#z5 U.S. 574,
587 (1986) (Where the record taken aswvhole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for
the non-moving party, there is ngenuine issue for tridl.(quoting First Nat’l Bank of Ariz. v.
Cities Servs. Cp391 U.S. 253, 289 (1968))“At the summary judgment stage, facts must be
viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party only if there is a ‘genuipetelias

to those facts.”Scott 550 U.Sat 380 (quoting Fed. Rule Civ. Proc. 55(a
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In this case, althougBlaintiff asserts in broad strokes that there are disagreements with
the Defendant about key facts, such that summary judgment is inappesite’s Opp’'n 35-36,
she does not present any particular disputes that involve allegddssemination. As such she
has not established any genuine dispute regarding the facts in the record.rdfasehe
noteworthy that other parts of the recdikk the fact that Ms. Lloyd did approve a detail for
another female superviseselloyd Dep. 91:492:11, and the fact that at least one female
employee was allowed to contact Mr. Page direstgSierra Dep. 142:23-143:¢an be read to
undercut the claim that Ms. Lloyd discriminated in a way that created a hostie w
environment on thbasis of sex.SeeDef.’s Reply at 67 (arguing that Ms. Lloyd’s conduct was
“neutral with respect to Plaintiff's status as a woman.”). The existence of dusgdlong
with—as discussed abovdaintiff's own failure to point to specific factbat link up the
alleged conduct with her status as a wonaampunt tca lack of evidenceapon which a
reasonable juror could decide in Ms. Sierra’s favor on the question of causatipmhether
her sex was the reason that Ms. Lloyd subjected hehdstde work environment.

Accordingly, the Court concludes that Plaintiff has not met her burden to show specific
facts establishinghat she was subjected to discriminatory conduct because sthhes as a
woman. Without this showing, there is no genuine disasiti® a material fact that could affect
the substantive outcome of the litigatiom this claim See Scottt50 U.S. at 380The Court
will thus grantDefendant’s motion for summary judgment regarditagntiff's sexbased hostile

work envionment claim.
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VI. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasorBefendant’s motion to dismiss @GRANTED andDefendant’s
motion for summary judgmeig GRANTED IN PART andDENIED IN PART. Soat the end
of the day, Plaintiff's only claim remaining for a jury to decide at trial istindreMs. Lloyd
subjected Ms. Sierra to a hostile work environment based on Ms. Sierra’s isgan{e) and/or
national origin (Colombian). An order consistent with this Memorandum Opinion is s#para

and contemporaneously issued.

Dated: August 13, 2019 RUDOLPH CONTRERAS
United States District Judge
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